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the basis for similar relief if filed or 
raised as an unfair labor practice under 
part 2423 of this chapter: Provided, how-
ever, that related matters may be con-
solidated for hearing as noted in 
§ 2422.27(d) of this subpart.

§ 2422.34 Rights and obligations dur-
ing the pendency of representation 
proceedings. 

(a) Existing recognitions, agreements, 
and obligations under the Statute. During 
the pendency of any representation 
proceeding, parties are obligated to 
maintain existing recognitions, adhere 
to the terms and conditions of existing 
collective bargaining agreements, and 
fulfill all other representational and 
bargaining responsibilities under the 
Statute. 

(b) Unit status of individual employees. 
Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this 
section and except as otherwise prohib-
ited by law, a party may take action 
based on its position regarding the bar-
gaining unit status of individual em-
ployees, pursuant to 3 U.S.C. 431(d)(2), 5 
U.S.C. 7103(a)(2), and 7112(b) and (c): 
Provided, however, that its actions may 
be challenged, reviewed, and remedied 
where appropriate. 

[60 FR 67291, Dec. 29, 1995, as amended at 63 
FR 46158, Aug. 31, 1998]

PART 2423—UNFAIR LABOR 
PRACTICE PROCEEDINGS

Sec.
2423.0 Applicability of this part.

Subpart A—Filing, Investigating, Resolving, 
and Acting on Charges

2423.1 Resolution of unfair labor practice 
disputes prior to a Regional Director de-
termination whether to issue a com-
plaint. 

2423.2 Alternative Dispute Resolution 
(ADR) services. 

2423.3 Who may file charges. 
2423.4 Contents of the charge; supporting 

evidence and documents. 
2423.5 [Reserved] 
2423.6 Filing and service of copies. 
2423.7 Alternative case processing proce-

dure. 
2423.8 Investigation of charges. 
2423.9 Amendment of charges. 
2423.10 Action by the Regional Director. 
2423.11 Determination not to issue com-

plaint; review of action by the Regional 
Director. 

2423.12 Settlement of unfair labor practice 
charges after a Regional Director deter-
mination to issue a complaint but prior 
to issuance of a complaint. 

2423.13–2423.19 [Reserved]

Subpart B—Post Complaint, Prehearing 
Procedures

2423.20 Issuance and contents of the com-
plaint; answer to the complaint; amend-
ments; role of Office of the Administra-
tive Law Judges. 

2423.21 Motions procedure. 
2423.22 Intervenors. 
2423.23 Prehearing disclosure. 
2423.24 Powers and duties of the Adminis-

trative Law Judge during prehearing pro-
ceedings. 

2423.25 Post complaint, prehearing settle-
ments. 

2423.26 Stipulations of fact submissions. 
2423.27 Summary judgment motions. 
2423.28 Subpoenas. 
2423.29 [Reserved]

Subpart C—Hearing Procedures.

2423.30 General rules. 
2423.31 Powers and duties of the Adminis-

trative Law Judge at the hearing. 
2423.32 Burden of proof before the Adminis-

trative Law Judge. 
2423.33 Posthearing briefs. 
2423.34 Decision and record. 
2423.35–2423.39 [Reserved]

Subpart D—Post-Transmission and 
Exceptions to Authority Procedures

2423.40 Exceptions; oppositions and cross-
exceptions; oppositions to cross-excep-
tions; waiver. 

2423.41 Action by the Authority; compliance 
with Authority decisions and orders. 

2423.42 Backpay proceedings. 
2423.43–2423.49 [Reserved]

AUTHORITY: 3 U.S.C. 431; 5 U.S.C. 7134.

SOURCE: 62 FR 40916, July 31, 1997, unless 
otherwise noted.

§ 2423.0 Applicability of this part 
This part is applicable to any charge 

of alleged unfair labor practices pend-
ing or filed with the Authority on or 
after January 1, 1999, and any com-
plaint filed on or after October 1, 1997. 

[63 FR 65642, Nov. 30, 1998]

Subpart A—Filing, Investigating, 
Resolving, and Acting on Charges

SOURCE: 63 FR 65642, Nov. 30, 1998, unless 
otherwise noted.
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§ 2423.1 Resolution of unfair labor 
practice disputes prior to a Re-
gional Director determination 
whether to issue a complaint. 

(a) Resolving unfair labor practice dis-
putes prior to filing a charge. The pur-
poses and policies of the Federal Serv-
ice Labor-Management Relations Stat-
ute can best be achieved by the col-
laborative efforts of all persons covered 
by that law. The General Counsel en-
courages all persons to meet and, in 
good faith, attempt to resolve unfair 
labor practice disputes prior to filing 
unfair labor practice charges. If re-
quested, or agreed to, by both parties, 
a representative of the Regional Office, 
in appropriate circumstances, may par-
ticipate in these meetings to assist the 
parties in identifying the issues and 
their interests and in resolving the dis-
pute. Attempts to resolve unfair labor 
practice disputes prior to filing an un-
fair labor practice charge do not toll 
the time limitations for filing a charge 
set forth at 5 U.S.C. 7118(a)(4). 

(b) Resolving unfair labor practice dis-
putes after filing a charge. The General 
Counsel encourages the informal reso-
lution of unfair labor practice allega-
tions subsequent to the filing of a 
charge and prior to a determination on 
the merits of the charge by a Regional 
Director. A representative of the ap-
propriate Regional Office, as part of 
the investigation, may assist the par-
ties in informally resolving their dis-
pute.

§ 2423.2 Alternative Dispute Resolu-
tion (ADR) services. 

(a) Purpose of ADR services. The Office 
of the General Counsel furthers its mis-
sion and implements the agency-wide 
Federal Labor Relations Authority 
Collaboration and Alternative Dispute 
Resolution Program by promoting sta-
ble and productive labor-management 
relationships governed by the Federal 
Service Labor-Management Relations 
Statute and by providing services 
which assist labor organizations and 
agencies, on a voluntary basis: To de-
velop collaborative labor-management 
relationships; to avoid unfair labor 
practice disputes; and to resolve any 
unfair labor practice disputes infor-
mally. 

(b) Types of ADR Services. Agencies 
and labor organizations may jointly re-
quest, or agree to, the provision of the 
following services by the Office of the 
General Counsel: 

(1) Facilitation. Assisting the parties 
in improving their labor-management 
relationship as governed by the Federal 
Service Labor-Management Relations 
Statute; 

(2) Intervention. Intervening when 
parties are experiencing or expect sig-
nificant unfair labor practice disputes; 

(3) Training. Training labor organiza-
tion officials and agency representa-
tives on their rights and responsibil-
ities under the Federal Service Labor-
Management Relations Statute and 
how to avoid litigation over those 
rights and responsibilities, and on uti-
lizing problem solving and ADR skills, 
techniques, and strategies to resolve 
informally unfair labor practice dis-
putes; and 

(4) Education. Working with the par-
ties to recognize the benefits of, and es-
tablish processes for, avoiding unfair 
labor practice disputes, and resolving 
any unfair labor practice disputes that 
arise by consensual, rather than adver-
sarial, methods. 

(c) ADR services after initiation of an 
investigation. As part of processing an 
unfair labor practice charge, the Office 
of the General Counsel may suggest to 
the parties, as appropriate, that they 
may benefit from these ADR services.

§ 2423.3 Who may file charges. 
(a) Filing charges. Any person may 

charge an activity, agency or labor or-
ganization with having engaged in, or 
engaging in, any unfair labor practice 
prohibited under 5 U.S.C. 7116. 

(b) Charging Party. Charging Party 
means the individual, labor organiza-
tion, activity or agency filing an unfair 
labor practice charge with a Regional 
Director. 

(c) Charged Party. Charged Party 
means the activity, agency or labor or-
ganization charged with allegedly hav-
ing engaged in, or engaging in, an un-
fair labor practice.

§ 2423.4 Contents of the charge; sup-
porting evidence and documents. 

(a) What to file. The Charging Party 
may file a charge alleging a violation 
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of 5 U.S.C. 7116 by completing a form 
prescribed by the General Counsel, or 
on a substantially similar form, that 
contains the following information: 

(1) The name, address, telephone 
number, and facsimile number (where 
facsimile equipment is available) of the 
Charging Party; 

(2) The name, address, telephone 
number, and facsimile number (where 
facsimile equipment is available) of the 
Charged Party; 

(3) The name, address, telephone 
number, and facsimile number (where 
facsimile equipment is available) of the 
Charging Party’s point of contact; 

(4) The name, address, telephone 
number, and facsimile number (where 
facsimile equipment is available) of the 
Charged Party’s point of contact; 

(5) A clear and concise statement of 
the facts alleged to constitute an un-
fair labor practice, a statement of the 
section(s) and paragraph(s) of the Fed-
eral Service Labor-Management Rela-
tions Statute alleged to have been vio-
lated, and the date and place of occur-
rence of the particular acts; and 

(6) A statement whether the subject 
matter raised in the charge: 

(i) Has been raised previously in a 
grievance procedure; 

(ii) Has been referred to the Federal 
Service Impasses Panel, the Federal 
Mediation and Conciliation Service, 
the Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission, the Merit Systems Pro-
tection Board, or the Office of the Spe-
cial Counsel for consideration or ac-
tion; 

(iii) Involves a negotiability issue 
raised by the Charging Party in a peti-
tion pending before the Authority pur-
suant to part 2424 of this subchapter; or 

(iv) Has been the subject of any other 
administrative or judicial proceeding. 

(7) A statement describing the result 
or status of any proceeding identified 
in paragraph (a)(6) of this section. 

(b) Declaration of truth and statement 
of service. A charge shall be in writing 
and signed, and shall contain a declara-
tion by the individual signing the 
charge, under the penalties of the 
Criminal Code (18 U.S.C. 1001), that its 
contents are true and correct to the 
best of that individual’s knowledge and 
belief. 

(c) Statement of service. A charge shall 
also contain a statement that the 
Charging Party served the charge on 
the Charged Party, and shall list the 
name, title and location of the indi-
vidual served, and the method of serv-
ice. 

(d) Self-contained document. A charge 
shall be a self-contained document de-
scribing the alleged unfair labor prac-
tice without a need to refer to sup-
porting evidence documents submitted 
under paragraph (e) of this section. 

(e) Submitting supporting evidence and 
documents and identifying potential wit-
nesses. When filing a charge, the Charg-
ing Party shall submit to the Regional 
Director any supporting evidence and 
documents, including, but not limited 
to, correspondence and memoranda, 
records, reports, applicable collective 
bargaining agreement clauses, memo-
randa of understanding, minutes of 
meetings, applicable regulations, state-
ments of position and other documen-
tary evidence. The Charging Party also 
shall identify potential witnesses and 
shall provide a brief synopsis of their 
expected testimony.

§ 2423.5 [Reserved]

§ 2423.6 Filing and service of copies. 
(a) Where to file. A Charging Party 

shall file the charge with the Regional 
Director for the region in which the al-
leged unfair labor practice has oc-
curred or is occurring. A charge alleg-
ing that an unfair labor practice has 
occurred or is occurring in two or more 
regions may be filed with the Regional 
Director in any of those regions. 

(b) Filing date. A charge is deemed 
filed when it is received by a Regional 
Director. 

(c) Method of filing. A Charging Party 
may file a charge with the Regional Di-
rector in person or by commercial de-
livery, first-class mail, or certified 
mail. Notwithstanding § 2429.24(e) of 
this subchapter, a Charging Party also 
may file a charge by facsimile trans-
mission if the charge does not exceed 2 
pages. If filing by facsimile trans-
mission, the Charging Party is not re-
quired to file an original copy of the 
charge with the Region. A Charging 
Party assumes responsibility for re-
ceipt of a charge. Supporting evidence 
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and documents shall be submitted to 
the Regional Director in person, by 
commercial delivery, first-class mail, 
or certified mail, not by facsimile 
transmission. Charges shall not be filed 
by electronic mail. 

(d) Service of the charge. The Charging 
Party shall serve a copy of the charge 
(without supporting evidence and docu-
ments) on the Charged Party. Where 
facsimile equipment is available, the 
charge may be served by facsimile 
transmission in accordance with para-
graph (c) of this section. The Region 
routinely serves a copy of the charge 
on the Charged Party, but the Charging 
Party remains responsible for serving 
the charge in accordance with this 
paragraph.

§ 2423.7 Alternative case processing 
procedure. 

(a) Alternative case processing proce-
dure. The Region may utilize an alter-
native case processing procedure to as-
sist the parties in resolving their un-
fair labor practice dispute, if the par-
ties voluntarily agree, by facilitating a 
problem-solving approach, rather than 
initially investigating the particular 
facts and determining the merits of the 
charge. 

(b) No evidence is taken. The purpose 
of the alternative case processing pro-
cedure is to resolve the underlying un-
fair labor practice dispute without de-
termining the merits of the charge. 
The role of the agent is to assist the 
parties in that endeavor by facilitating 
a solution rather than conducting an 
investigation. No testimonial or docu-
mentary evidence or positions on the 
merits of the charge shall be gathered 
during the alternative case processing 
procedure or entered into the case file. 

(c) Investigation is not waived. If the 
parties are unable to resolve the dis-
pute, the Region conducts an investiga-
tion on the merits of the charge. The 
agent who is involved in the alter-
native case processing procedure shall 
not be involved in any subsequent in-
vestigation on the merits of the 
charge, unless the parties and the Re-
gional Director agree otherwise.

§ 2423.8 Investigation of charges. 
(a) Investigation. The Regional Direc-

tor, on behalf of the General Counsel, 

conducts such investigation of the 
charge as the Regional Director deems 
necessary. During the course of the in-
vestigation, all parties involved are af-
forded an opportunity to present their 
evidence and views to the Regional Di-
rector. 

(b) Cooperation. The purposes and 
policies of the Federal Service Labor-
Management Relations Statute can 
best be achieved by the full coopera-
tion of all parties involved and the 
timely submission of all potentially 
relevant information from all potential 
sources during the course of the inves-
tigation. All persons shall cooperate 
fully with the Regional Director in the 
investigation of charges. Cooperation 
includes any of the following actions, 
when deemed appropriate by the Re-
gional Director: 

(1) Making union officials, employ-
ees, and agency supervisors and man-
agers available to give sworn/affirmed 
testimony regarding matters under in-
vestigation; 

(2) Producing documentary evidence 
pertinent to the matters under inves-
tigation; and 

(3) Providing statements of position 
on the matters under investigation. 

(c) Investigatory subpoenas. If a person 
fails to cooperate with the Regional Di-
rector in the investigation of a charge, 
the General Counsel, upon rec-
ommendation of a Regional Director, 
may decide in appropriate cir-
cumstances to issue a subpoena under 5 
U.S.C. 7132 for the attendance and tes-
timony of witnesses and the production 
of documentary or other evidence. 
However, no subpoena shall be issued 
under this section which requires the 
disclosure of intramanagement guid-
ance, advice, counsel or training within 
an agency or between an agency and 
the Office of Personnel Management. 

(1) A subpoena shall be served by any 
individual who is at least 18 years old 
and who is not a party to the pro-
ceeding. The individual who served the 
subpoena must certify that he or she 
did so: 

(i) By delivering it to the witness in 
person; 

(ii) By registered or certified mail; or 
(iii) By delivering the subpoena to a 

responsible individual (named in the 
document certifying the delivery) at 
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the residence or place of business (as 
appropriate) of the person for whom 
the subpoena was intended. The sub-
poena shall show on its face the name 
and address of the Regional Director 
and the General Counsel. 

(2) Any person served with a sub-
poena who does not intend to comply 
shall, within 5 days after the date of 
service of the subpoena upon such per-
son, petition in writing to revoke the 
subpoena. A copy of any petition to re-
voke a subpoena shall be served on the 
General Counsel. 

(3) The General Counsel shall revoke 
the subpoena if the witness or evi-
dence, the production of which is re-
quired, is not material and relevant to 
the matters under investigation or in 
question in the proceedings, or the sub-
poena does not describe with sufficient 
particularity the evidence the produc-
tion of which is required, or if for any 
other reason sufficient in law the sub-
poena is invalid. The General Counsel 
shall state the procedural or other 
grounds for the ruling on the petition 
to revoke. The petition to revoke, and 
any ruling on the petition to revoke, 
shall become part of the official record 
if there is a hearing under subpart C of 
this part. 

(4) Upon the failure of any person to 
comply with a subpoena issued by the 
General Counsel, the General Counsel 
shall determine whether to institute 
proceedings in the appropriate district 
court for the enforcement of the sub-
poena. Enforcement shall not be sought 
if to do so would be inconsistent with 
law, including the Federal Service 
Labor-Management Relations Statute. 

(d) Confidentiality. It is the General 
Counsel’s policy to protect the identity 
of individuals who submit statements 
and information during the investiga-
tion, and to protect against the disclo-
sure of documents obtained during the 
investigation, as a means of ensuring 
the General Counsel’s continuing abil-
ity to obtain all relevant information. 
After issuance of a complaint and in 
preparation for a hearing, however, 
identification of witnesses, a synopsis 
of their expected testimony and docu-
ments proposed to be offered into evi-
dence at the hearing may be disclosed 
as required by the prehearing disclo-
sure requirements in § 2423.23.

§ 2423.9 Amendment of charges. 
Prior to the issuance of a complaint, 

the Charging Party may amend the 
charge in accordance with the require-
ments set forth in § 2423.6.

§ 2423.10 Action by the Regional Direc-
tor. 

(a) Regional Director action. The Re-
gional Director may take any of the 
following actions, as appropriate: 

(1) Approve a request to withdraw a 
charge; 

(2) Refuse to issue a complaint; 
(3) Approve a written settlement 

agreement in accordance with the pro-
visions of § 2423.12; 

(4) Issue a complaint; or 
(5) Withdraw a complaint. 
(b) Request for appropriate temporary 

relief. Parties may request the General 
Counsel to seek appropriate temporary 
relief (including a restraining order) 
under 5 U.S.C. 7123(d). The General 
Counsel may initiate and prosecute in-
junctive proceedings under 5 U.S.C. 
7123(d) only upon approval of the Au-
thority. A determination by the Gen-
eral Counsel not to seek approval of 
the Authority to seek such appropriate 
temporary relief is final and shall not 
be appealed to the Authority. 

(c) General Counsel requests to the Au-
thority. When a complaint issues and 
the Authority approves the General 
Counsel’s request to seek appropriate 
temporary relief (including a restrain-
ing order) under 5 U.S.C. 7123(d), the 
General Counsel may make application 
for appropriate temporary relief (in-
cluding a restraining order) in the dis-
trict court of the United States within 
which the unfair labor practice is al-
leged to have occurred or in which the 
party sought to be enjoined resides or 
transacts business. Temporary relief 
may be sought if it is just and proper 
and the record establishes probable 
cause that an unfair labor practice is 
being committed. Temporary relief 
shall not be sought if it would interfere 
with the ability of the agency to carry 
out its essential functions. 

(d) Actions subsequent to obtaining ap-
propriate temporary relief. The General 
Counsel shall inform the district court 
which granted temporary relief pursu-
ant to 5 U.S.C. 7123(d) whenever an Ad-
ministrative Law Judge recommends 
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dismissal of the complaint, in whole or 
in part.

§ 2423.11 Determination not to issue 
complaint; review of action by the 
Regional Director. 

(a) Opportunity to withdraw a charge. 
If upon the completion of an investiga-
tion under § 2423.8, the Regional Direc-
tor, on behalf of the General Counsel, 
determines that issuance of a com-
plaint is not warranted because the 
charge has not been timely filed, that 
the charge fails to state an unfair labor 
practice, or for other appropriate rea-
sons, the Regional Director may re-
quest the Charging Party to withdraw 
the charge. 

(b) Dismissal letter. If the Charging 
Party does not withdraw the charge 
within a reasonable period of time, the 
Regional Director may, on behalf of 
the General Counsel, dismiss the 
charge and provide the parties with a 
written statement of the reasons for 
not issuing a complaint. 

(c) Appeal of a dismissal letter. The 
Charging Party may obtain review of 
the Regional Director’s decision not to 
issue a complaint by filing an appeal 
with the General Counsel within 25 
days after service of the Regional Di-
rector’s decision. A Charging Party 
shall serve a copy of the appeal on the 
Regional Director. The Office of the 
General Counsel shall serve notice on 
the Charged Party that an appeal has 
been filed. 

(d) Extension of time. The Charging 
Party may file a request, in writing, 
for an extension of time to file an ap-
peal, which shall be received by the 
General Counsel not later than 5 days 
before the date the appeal is due. A 
Charging Party shall serve a copy of 
the request for an extension of time on 
the Regional Director. 

(e) Grounds for granting an appeal. 
The General Counsel may grant an ap-
peal when the appeal establishes at 
least one of the following grounds: 

(1) The Regional Director’s decision 
did not consider material facts that 
would have resulted in issuance of com-
plaint; 

(2) The Regional Director’s decision 
is based on a finding of a material fact 
that is clearly erroneous; 

(3) The Regional Director’s decision 
is based on an incorrect statement of 
the applicable rule of law; 

(4) There is no Authority precedent 
on the legal issue in the case; or 

(5) The manner in which the Region 
conducted the investigation has re-
sulted in prejudicial error. 

(f) General Counsel action. The Gen-
eral Counsel may deny the appeal of 
the Regional Director’s refusal to issue 
a complaint, or may grant the appeal 
and remand the case to the Regional 
Director to take further action. The 
General Counsel’s decision on the ap-
peal states the grounds listed in para-
graph (e) of this section for denying or 
granting the appeal, and is served on 
all the parties. Absent a timely motion 
for reconsideration, the decision of the 
General Counsel is final. 

(g) Reconsideration. After the General 
Counsel issues a final decision, the 
Charging Party may move for reconsid-
eration of the final decision if it can 
establish extraordinary circumstances 
in its moving papers. The motion shall 
be filed within 10 days after the date on 
which the General Counsel’s final deci-
sion is postmarked. A motion for re-
consideration shall state with particu-
larity the extraordinary circumstances 
claimed and shall be supported by ap-
propriate citations. The decision of the 
General Counsel on a motion for recon-
sideration is final.

§ 2423.12 Settlement of unfair labor 
practice charges after a Regional 
Director determination to issue a 
complaint but prior to issuance of a 
complaint. 

(a) Bilateral informal settlement agree-
ment. Prior to issuing a complaint, the 
Regional Director may afford the 
Charging Party and the Charged Party 
a reasonable period of time to enter 
into an informal settlement agreement 
to be approved by the Regional Direc-
tor. When a Charged Party complies 
with the terms of an informal settle-
ment agreement approved by the Re-
gional Director, no further action is 
taken in the case. If the Charged Party 
fails to perform its obligations under 
the approved informal settlement 
agreement, the Regional Director may 
institute further proceedings. 

(b) Unilateral informal settlement agree-
ment. If the Charging Party elects not 

VerDate jul<14>2003 06:23 Feb 28, 2004 Jkt 203009 PO 00000 Frm 00376 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\203009T.XXX 203009T



377

Federal Labor Relations Authority § 2423.21 

to become a party to an informal set-
tlement agreement which the Regional 
Director concludes effectuates the poli-
cies of the Federal Service Labor-Man-
agement Relations Statute, the agree-
ment may be between the Charged 
Party and the Regional Director. The 
Regional Director, on behalf of the 
General Counsel, shall issue a letter 
stating the grounds for approving the 
settlement agreement and declining to 
issue a complaint. The Charging Party 
may obtain review of the Regional Di-
rector’s action by filing an appeal with 
the General Counsel in accordance with 
§ 2423.11(c) and (d). The General Counsel 
shall take action on the appeal as set 
forth in § 2423.11(e)–(g).

§§ 2423.13–2423.19 [Reserved]

Subpart B—Post Complaint, 
Prehearing Procedures

§ 2423.20 Issuance and contents of the 
complaint; answer to the complaint; 
amendments; role of Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges. 

(a) Complaint. Whenever formal pro-
ceedings are deemed necessary, the Re-
gional Director shall file and serve, in 
accordance with § 2429.12 of this sub-
chapter, a complaint with the Office of 
Administrative Law Judges. The deci-
sion to issue a complaint shall not be 
subject to review. Any complaint may 
be withdrawn by the Regional Director 
prior to the hearing. The complaint 
shall set forth: 

(1) Notice of the charge; 
(2) The basis for jurisdiction; 
(3) The facts alleged to constitute an 

unfair labor practice; 
(4) The particular sections of 5 

U.S.C., chapter 71 and the rules and 
regulations involved; 

(5) Notice of the date, time, and place 
that a hearing will take place before an 
Administrative Law Judge; and 

(6) A brief statement explaining the 
nature of the hearing. 

(b) Answer. Within 20 days after the 
date of service of the complaint, but in 
any event, prior to the beginning of the 
hearing, the Respondent shall file and 
serve, in accordance with part 2429 of 
this subchapter, an answer with the Of-
fice of Administrative Law Judges. The 
answer shall admit, deny, or explain 

each allegation of the complaint. If the 
Respondent has no knowledge of an al-
legation or insufficient information as 
to its truthfulness, the answer shall so 
state. Absent a showing of good cause 
to the contrary, failure to file an an-
swer or respond to any allegation shall 
constitute an admission. Motions to 
extend the filing deadline shall be filed 
in accordance with § 2423.21. 

(c) Amendments. The Regional Direc-
tor may amend the complaint at any 
time before the answer is filed. The Re-
spondent then has 20 days from the 
date of service of the amended com-
plaint to file an answer with the Office 
of Administrative Law Judges. Prior to 
the beginning of the hearing, the an-
swer may be amended by the Respond-
ent within 20 days after the answer is 
filed. Thereafter, any requests to 
amend the complaint or answer must 
be made by motion to the Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges. 

(d) Office of Administrative Law 
Judges. Pleadings, motions, con-
ferences, hearings, and other matters 
throughout as specified in subparts B, 
C, and D of this part shall be adminis-
tered by the Office of Administrative 
Law Judges, as appropriate. The Chief 
Administrative Law Judge, or any Ad-
ministrative Law Judge designated by 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge, 
shall administer any matters properly 
submitted to the Office of Administra-
tive Law Judges. Throughout subparts 
B, C, and D of this part, ‘‘Administra-
tive Law Judge’’ or ‘‘Judge’’ refers to 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge or 
his or her designee.

§ 2423.21 Motions procedure. 
(a) General requirements. All motions, 

except those made during a prehearing 
conference or hearing, shall be in writ-
ing. Motions for an extension of time, 
postponement of a hearing, or any 
other procedural ruling shall include a 
statement of the position of the other 
parties on the motion. All written mo-
tions and responses in subparts B, C, or 
D of this part shall satisfy the filing 
and service requirements of part 2429 of 
this subchapter. 

(b) Motions made to the Administrative 
Law Judge. Prehearing motions and 
motions made at the hearing shall be 
filed with the Administrative Law 
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Judge. Unless otherwise specified in 
subparts B or C of this part, or other-
wise directed or approved by the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge: 

(1) Prehearing motions shall be filed 
at least 10 days prior to the hearing, 
and responses shall be filed within 5 
days after the date of service of the 
motion; 

(2) Responses to motions made during 
the hearing shall be filed prior to the 
close of hearing; 

(3) Posthearing motions shall be filed 
within 10 days after the date the hear-
ing closes, and responses shall be filed 
within 5 days after the date of service 
of the motion; and 

(4) Motions to correct the transcript 
shall be filed with the Administrative 
Law Judge within 10 days after receipt 
of the transcript, and responses shall 
be filed within 5 days after the date of 
service of the motion. 

(c) Post-transmission motions. After 
the case has been transmitted to the 
Authority, motions shall be filed with 
the Authority. Responses shall be filed 
within 5 days after the date of service 
of the motion. 

(d) Interlocutory appeals. Motions for 
an interlocutory appeal of any ruling 
and responses shall be filed in accord-
ance with this section and § 2423.31(c).

§ 2423.22 Intervenors. 

Motions for permission to intervene 
and responses shall be filed in accord-
ance with § 2423.21. Such motions shall 
be granted upon a showing that the 
outcome of the proceeding is likely to 
directly affect the movant’s rights or 
duties. Intervenors may participate 
only: on the issues determined by the 
Administrative Law Judge to affect 
them; and to the extent permitted by 
the Judge. Denial of such motions may 
be appealed pursuant to § 2423.21(d).

§ 2423.23 Prehearing disclosure. 

Unless otherwise directed or ap-
proved by the Judge, the parties shall 
exchange, in accordance with the serv-
ice requirements of § 2429.27(b) of this 
subchapter, the following items at 
least 14 days prior to the hearing: 

(a) Witnesses. Proposed witness lists, 
including a brief synopsis of the ex-
pected testimony of each witness; 

(b) Documents. Copies of documents, 
with an index, proposed to be offered 
into evidence; and 

(c) Theories. A brief statement of the 
theory of the case, including relief 
sought, and any and all defenses to the 
allegations in the complaint.

§ 2423.24 Powers and duties of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge during pre-
hearing proceedings. 

(a) Prehearing procedures. The Admin-
istrative Law Judge shall regulate the 
course and scheduling of prehearing 
matters, including prehearing orders, 
conferences, disclosure, motions, and 
subpoena requests. 

(b) Changing date, time, or place of 
hearing. After issuance of the com-
plaint or any prehearing order, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge may, in the 
Judge’s discretion or upon motion by 
any party through the motions proce-
dure in § 2423.21, change the date, time, 
or place of the hearing. 

(c) Prehearing order. (1) The Adminis-
trative Law Judge may, in the Judge’s 
discretion or upon motion by any party 
through the motions procedure in 
§ 2423.21, issue a prehearing order con-
firming or changing: 

(i) The date, time, or place of the 
hearing; 

(ii) The schedule for prehearing dis-
closure of witness lists and documents 
intended to be offered into evidence at 
the hearing; 

(iii) The date for submission of proce-
dural and substantive motions; 

(iv) The date, time, and place of the 
prehearing conference; and 

(v) Any other matter pertaining to 
prehearing or hearing procedures. 

(2) The prehearing order shall be 
served in accordance with § 2429.12 of 
this subchapter. 

(d) Prehearing conferences. The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge shall conduct 
one or more prehearing conferences, ei-
ther by telephone or in person, at least 
7 days prior to the hearing date, unless 
the Administrative Law Judge deter-
mines that a prehearing conference 
would serve no purpose and no party 
has moved for a prehearing conference 
in accordance with § 2423.21. If a pre-
hearing conference is held, all parties 
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must participate in the prehearing con-
ference and be prepared to discuss, nar-
row, and resolve the issues set forth in 
the complaint and answer, as well as 
any prehearing disclosure matters or 
disputes. When necessary, the Adminis-
trative Law Judge shall prepare and 
file for the record a written summary 
of actions taken at the conference. 
Summaries of the conference shall be 
served on all parties in accordance 
with § 2429.12 of this subchapter. The 
following may also be considered at the 
prehearing conference: 

(1) Settlement of the case, either by 
the Judge conducting the prehearing 
conference or pursuant to § 2423.25; 

(2) Admissions of fact, disclosure of 
contents and authenticity of docu-
ments, and stipulations of fact; 

(3) Objections to the introduction of 
evidence at the hearing, including oral 
or written testimony, documents, pa-
pers, exhibits, or other submissions 
proposed by a party; 

(4) Subpoena requests or petitions to 
revoke subpoenas; 

(5) Any matters subject to official no-
tice; 

(6) Outstanding motions; or 
(7) Any other matter that may expe-

dite the hearing or aid in the disposi-
tion of the case. 

(e) Sanctions. The Administrative 
Law Judge may, in the Judge’s discre-
tion or upon motion by any party 
through the motions procedure in 
§ 2423.21, impose sanctions upon the 
parties as necessary and appropriate to 
ensure that a party’s failure to fully 
comply with subpart B or C of this part 
is not condoned. Such authority in-
cludes, but is not limited to, the power 
to: 

(1) Prohibit a party who fails to com-
ply with any requirement of subpart B 
or C of this part from, as appropriate, 
introducing evidence, calling wit-
nesses, raising objections to the intro-
duction of evidence or testimony of 
witnesses at the hearing, presenting a 
specific theory of violation, seeking 
certain relief, or relying upon a par-
ticular defense. 

(2) Refuse to consider any submission 
that is not filed in compliance with 
subparts B or C of this part.

§ 2423.25 Post complaint, prehearing 
settlements. 

(a) Informal and formal settlements. 
Post complaint settlements may be ei-
ther informal or formal. 

(1) Informal settlement agreements 
provide for withdrawal of the com-
plaint by the Regional Director and are 
not subject to approval by or an order 
of the Authority. If the Respondent 
fails to perform its obligations under 
the informal settlement agreement, 
the Regional Director may reinstitute 
formal proceedings consistent with this 
subpart. 

(2) Formal settlement agreements 
are subject to approval by the Author-
ity, and include the parties’ agreement 
to waive their right to a hearing and 
acknowledgment that the Authority 
may issue an order requiring the Re-
spondent to take action appropriate to 
the terms of the settlement. The for-
mal settlement agreement shall also 
contain the Respondent’s consent to 
the Authority’s application for the 
entry of a decree by an appropriate fed-
eral court enforcing the Authority’s 
order. 

(b) Informal settlement procedure. If 
the Charging Party and the Respond-
ent enter into an informal settlement 
agreement that is accepted by the Re-
gional Director, the Regional Director 
shall withdraw the complaint and ap-
prove the informal settlement agree-
ment. If the Charging Party fails or re-
fuses to become a party to an informal 
settlement agreement offered by the 
Respondent, and the Regional Director 
concludes that the offered settlement 
will effectuate the policies of the Fed-
eral Service Labor-Management Rela-
tions Statute, the Regional Director 
shall enter into the agreement with the 
Respondent and shall withdraw the 
complaint. The Charging Party then 
may obtain a review of the Regional 
Director’s action by filing an appeal 
with the General Counsel as provided 
in subpart A of this part. 

(c) Formal settlement procedure. If the 
Charging Party and the Respondent 
enter into a formal settlement agree-
ment that is accepted by the Regional 
Director, the Regional Director shall 
withdraw the complaint upon approval 
of the formal settlement agreement by 
the Authority. If the Charging Party 
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fails or refuses to become a party to a 
formal settlement agreement offered 
by the Respondent, and the Regional 
Director concludes that the offered set-
tlement will effectuate the policies of 
the Federal Service Labor-Manage-
ment Relations Statute, the agreement 
shall be between the Respondent and 
the Regional Director. The formal set-
tlement agreement together with the 
Charging Party’s objections, if any, 
shall be submitted to the Authority for 
approval. The Authority may approve a 
formal settlement agreement upon a 
sufficient showing that it will effec-
tuate the policies of the Federal Serv-
ice Labor-Management Relations Stat-
ute. 

(d) Settlement judge program. The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, in the Judge’s 
discretion or upon the request of any 
party, may assign a judge or other ap-
propriate official, who shall be other 
than the hearing judge unless other-
wise mutually agreed to by the parties, 
to conduct negotiations for settlement. 

(1) The settlement official shall con-
vene and preside over settlement con-
ferences by telephone or in person. 

(2) The settlement official may re-
quire that the representative for each 
party be present at settlement con-
ferences and that the parties or agents 
with full settlement authority be 
present or available by telephone. 

(3) The settlement official shall not 
discuss any aspect of the case with the 
hearing judge. 

(4) No evidence regarding statements, 
conduct, offers of settlement, and con-
cessions of the parties made in pro-
ceedings before the settlement official 
shall be admissible in any proceeding 
before the Administrative Law Judge 
or Authority, except by stipulation of 
the parties.

§ 2423.26 Stipulations of fact submis-
sions. 

(a) General. When all parties agree 
that no material issue of fact exists, 
the parties may jointly submit a mo-
tion to the Administrative Law Judge 
or Authority requesting consideration 
of the matter based upon stipulations 
of fact. Briefs of the parties are re-
quired and must be submitted within 30 
days of the joint motion. Upon receipt 

of the briefs, such motions shall be 
ruled upon expeditiously. 

(b) Stipulations to the Administrative 
Law Judge. Where the stipulation ade-
quately addresses the appropriate ma-
terial facts, the Administrative Law 
Judge may grant the motion and de-
cide the case through stipulation. 

(c) Stipulations to the Authority. 
Where the stipulation provides an ade-
quate basis for application of estab-
lished precedent and a decision by the 
Administrative Law Judge would not 
assist in the resolution of the case, or 
in unusual circumstances, the Author-
ity may grant the motion and decide 
the case through stipulation. 

(d) Decision based on stipulation. 
Where the motion is granted, the Au-
thority will adjudicate the case and de-
termine whether the parties have met 
their respective burdens based on the 
stipulation and the briefs.

§ 2423.27 Summary judgment motions. 
(a) Motions. Any party may move for 

a summary judgment in its favor on 
any of the issues pleaded. Unless other-
wise approved by the Administrative 
Law Judge, such motion shall be made 
no later than 10 days prior to the hear-
ing. The motion shall demonstrate that 
there is no genuine issue of material 
fact and that the moving party is enti-
tled to a judgment as a matter of law. 
Such motions shall be supported by 
documents, affidavits, applicable prece-
dent, or other appropriate materials. 

(b) Responses. Responses must be filed 
within 5 days after the date of service 
of the motion. Responses may not rest 
upon mere allegations or denials but 
must show, by documents, affidavits, 
applicable precedent, or other appro-
priate materials, that there is a gen-
uine issue to be determined at the 
hearing. 

(c) Decision. If all issues are decided 
by summary judgment, no hearing will 
be held and the Administrative Law 
Judge shall prepare a decision in ac-
cordance with § 2423.34. If summary 
judgment is denied, or if partial sum-
mary judgment is granted, the Admin-
istrative Law Judge shall issue an 
opinion and order, subject to interlocu-
tory appeal as provided in § 2423.31(c) of 
this subchapter, and the hearing shall 
proceed as necessary.
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§ 2423.28 Subpoenas. 
(a) When necessary. Where the parties 

are in agreement that the appearance 
of witnesses or the production of docu-
ments is necessary, and such witnesses 
agree to appear, no subpoena need be 
sought. 

(b) Requests for subpoenas. A request 
for a subpoena by any person, as de-
fined in 5 U.S.C. 7103(a)(1), shall be in 
writing and filed with the Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges not less than 
10 days prior to the hearing, or with 
the Administrative Law Judge during 
the hearing. Requests for subpoenas 
made less than 10 days prior to the 
hearing shall be granted on sufficient 
explanation of why the request was not 
timely filed. 

(c) Subpoena procedures. The Office of 
Administrative Law Judges, or any 
other employee of the Authority des-
ignated by the Authority, as appro-
priate, shall furnish the requester the 
subpoenas sought, provided the request 
is timely made. Requests for subpoenas 
may be made ex parte. Completion of 
the specific information in the sub-
poena and the service of the subpoena 
are the responsibility of the party on 
whose behalf the subpoena was issued. 

(d) Service of subpoena. A subpoena 
may be served by any person who is at 
least 18 years old and who is not a 
party to the proceeding. The person 
who served the subpoena must certify 
that he or she did so: 

(1) By delivering it to the witness in 
person, 

(2) By registered or certified mail, or 
(3) By delivering the subpoena to a 

responsible person (named in the docu-
ment certifying the delivery) at the 
residence or place of business (as ap-
propriate) of the person for whom the 
subpoena was intended. The subpoena 
shall show on its face the name and ad-
dress of the party on whose behalf the 
subpoena was issued. 

(e)(1) Petition to revoke subpoena. Any 
person served with a subpoena who 
does not intend to comply shall, within 
5 days after the date of service of the 
subpoena upon such person, petition in 
writing to revoke the subpoena. A copy 
of any petition to revoke a subpoena 
shall be served on the party on whose 
behalf the subpoena was issued. Such 
petition to revoke, if made prior to the 

hearing, and a written statement of 
service, shall be filed with the Office of 
Administrative Law Judges for ruling. 
A petition to revoke a subpoena filed 
during the hearing, and a written 
statement of service, shall be filed with 
the Administrative Law Judge. 

(2) The Administrative Law Judge, or 
any other employee of the Authority 
designated by the Authority, as appro-
priate, shall revoke the subpoena if the 
person or evidence, the production of 
which is required, is not material and 
relevant to the matters under inves-
tigation or in question in the pro-
ceedings, or the subpoena does not de-
scribe with sufficient particularity the 
evidence the production of which is re-
quired, or if for any other reason suffi-
cient in law the subpoena is invalid. 
The Administrative Law Judge, or any 
other employee of the Authority des-
ignated by the Authority, as appro-
priate, shall state the procedural or 
other ground for the ruling on the peti-
tion to revoke. The petition to revoke, 
any answer thereto, and any ruling 
thereon shall not become part of the 
official record except upon the request 
of the party aggrieved by the ruling. 

(f) Failure to comply. Upon the failure 
of any person to comply with a sub-
poena issued and upon the request of 
the party on whose behalf the subpoena 
was issued, the Solicitor of the Author-
ity shall institute proceedings on be-
half of such party in the appropriate 
district court for the enforcement 
thereof, unless to do so would be incon-
sistent with law and the Federal Serv-
ice Labor-Management Relations Stat-
ute.

§ 2423.29 [Reserved]

Subpart C—Hearing Procedures

§ 2423.30 General rules. 

(a) Open hearing. The hearing shall be 
open to the public unless otherwise or-
dered by the Administrative Law 
Judge. 

(b) Administrative Procedure Act. The 
hearing shall, to the extent prac-
ticable, be conducted in accordance 
with 5 U.S.C. 554–557, and other applica-
ble provisions of the Administrative 
Procedure Act. 
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(c) Rights of parties. A party shall 
have the right to appear at any hearing 
in person, by counsel, or by other rep-
resentative; to examine and cross-ex-
amine witnesses; to introduce into the 
record documentary or other relevant 
evidence; and to submit rebuttal evi-
dence, except that the participation of 
any party shall be limited to the ex-
tent prescribed by the Administrative 
Law Judge. 

(d) Objections. Objections are oral or 
written complaints concerning the con-
duct of a hearing. Any objection not 
raised to the Administrative Law 
Judge shall be deemed waived. 

(e) Oral argument. Any party shall be 
entitled, upon request, to a reasonable 
period prior to the close of the hearing 
for oral argument, which shall be in-
cluded in the official transcript of the 
hearing. 

(f) Official transcript. An official re-
porter shall make the only official 
transcript of such proceedings. Copies 
of the transcript may be examined in 
the appropriate Regional Office during 
normal working hours. Parties desiring 
a copy of the transcript shall make ar-
rangements for a copy with the official 
hearing reporter.

§ 2423.31 Powers and duties of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge at the hear-
ing. 

(a) Conduct of hearing. The Adminis-
trative Law Judge shall conduct the 
hearing in a fair, impartial, and judi-
cial manner, taking action as needed to 
avoid unnecessary delay and maintain 
order during the proceedings. The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge may take any 
action necessary to schedule, conduct, 
continue, control, and regulate the 
hearing, including ruling on motions 
and taking official notice of material 
facts when appropriate. No provision of 
these regulations shall be construed to 
limit the powers of the Administrative 
Law Judge provided by 5 U.S.C. 556, 557, 
and other applicable provisions of the 
Administrative Procedure Act. 

(b) Evidence. The Administrative Law 
Judge shall receive evidence and in-
quire fully into the relevant and mate-
rial facts concerning the matters that 
are the subject of the hearing. The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge may exclude 
any evidence that is immaterial, irrele-

vant, unduly repetitious, or custom-
arily privileged. Rules of evidence shall 
not be strictly followed. 

(c) Interlocutory appeals. Motions for 
an interlocutory appeal shall be filed 
in writing with the Administrative 
Law Judge within 5 days after the date 
of the contested ruling. The motion 
shall state why interlocutory review is 
appropriate, and why the Authority 
should modify or reverse the contested 
ruling. 

(1) The Judge shall grant the motion 
and certify the contested ruling to the 
Authority if: 

(i) The ruling involves an important 
question of law or policy about which 
there is substantial ground for dif-
ference of opinion; and 

(ii) Immediate review will materially 
advance completion of the proceeding, 
or the denial of immediate review will 
cause undue harm to a party or the 
public. 

(2) If the motion is granted, the 
Judge or Authority may stay the hear-
ing during the pendency of the appeal. 
If the motion is denied, exceptions to 
the contested ruling may be filed in ac-
cordance with § 2423.40 of this sub-
chapter after the Judge issues a deci-
sion and recommended order in the 
case. 

(d) Bench decisions. Upon joint mo-
tion of the parties, the Administrative 
Law Judge may issue an oral decision 
at the close of the hearing when, in the 
Judge’s discretion, the nature of the 
case so warrants. By so moving, the 
parties waive their right to file 
posthearing briefs with the Adminis-
trative Law Judge, pursuant to 
§ 2423.33. If the decision is announced 
orally, it shall satisfy the requirements 
of § 2423.34(a)(1)–(5) and a copy thereof, 
excerpted from the transcript, together 
with any supplementary matter the 
judge may deem necessary to complete 
the decision, shall be transmitted to 
the Authority, in accordance with 
§ 2423.34(b), and furnished to the parties 
in accordance with § 2429.12 of this sub-
chapter. 

(e) Settlements after the opening of the 
hearing. As set forth in § 2423.25(a), set-
tlements may be either informal or for-
mal. 

(1) Informal settlement procedure: 
Judge’s approval of withdrawal. If the 
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Charging Party and the Respondent 
enter into an informal settlement 
agreement that is accepted by the Re-
gional Director, the Regional Director 
may request the Administrative Law 
Judge for permission to withdraw the 
complaint and, having been granted 
such permission, shall withdraw the 
complaint and approve the informal 
settlement between the Charging Party 
and Respondent. If the Charging Party 
fails or refuses to become a party to an 
informal settlement agreement offered 
by the Respondent, and the Regional 
Director concludes that the offered set-
tlement will effectuate the policies of 
the Federal Service Labor-Manage-
ment Relations Statute, the Regional 
Director shall enter into the agreement 
with the Respondent and shall, if 
granted permission by the Administra-
tive Law Judge, withdraw the com-
plaint. The Charging Party then may 
obtain a review of the Regional Direc-
tor’s decision as provided in subpart A 
of this part. 

(2) Formal settlement procedure: Judge’s 
approval of settlement. If the Charging 
Party and the Respondent enter into a 
formal settlement agreement that is 
accepted by the Regional Director, the 
Regional Director may request the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge to approve 
such formal settlement agreement, and 
upon such approval, to transmit the 
agreement to the Authority for ap-
proval. If the Charging Party fails or 
refuses to become a party to a formal 
settlement agreement offered by the 
Respondent, and the Regional Director 
concludes that the offered settlement 
will effectuate the policies of the Fed-
eral Service Labor-Management Rela-
tions Statute, the agreement shall be 
between the Respondent and the Re-
gional Director. After the Charging 
Party is given an opportunity to state 
on the record or in writing the reasons 
for opposing the formal settlement, the 
Regional Director may request the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge to approve 
such formal settlement agreement, and 
upon such approval, to transmit the 
agreement to the Authority for ap-
proval.

§ 2423.32 Burden of proof before the 
Administrative Law Judge. 

The General Counsel shall present 
the evidence in support of the com-
plaint and have the burden of proving 
the allegations of the complaint by a 
preponderance of the evidence. The Re-
spondent shall have the burden of prov-
ing any affirmative defenses that it 
raises to the allegations in the com-
plaint.

§ 2423.33 Posthearing briefs. 

Except when bench decisions are 
issued pursuant to § 2423.31(d), 
posthearing briefs may be filed with 
the Administrative Law Judge within a 
time period set by the Judge, not to ex-
ceed 30 days from the close of the hear-
ing, unless otherwise directed by the 
judge, and shall satisfy the filing and 
service requirements of part 2429 of 
this subchapter. Reply briefs shall not 
be filed absent permission of the Judge. 
Motions to extend the filing deadline 
or for permission to file a reply brief 
shall be filed in accordance with 
§ 2423.21.

§ 2423.34 Decision and record. 

(a) Recommended decision. Except 
when bench decisions are issued pursu-
ant to § 2423.31(d), the Administrative 
Law Judge shall prepare a written deci-
sion expeditiously in every case. All 
written decisions shall be served in ac-
cordance with § 2429.12 of this sub-
chapter. The decision shall set forth: 

(1) A statement of the issues; 
(2) Relevant findings of fact; 
(3) Conclusions of law and reasons 

therefor; 
(4) Credibility determinations as nec-

essary; and 
(5) A recommended disposition or 

order. 
(b) Transmittal to Authority. The 

Judge shall transmit the decision and 
record to the Authority. The record 
shall include the charge, complaint, 
service sheet, answer, motions, rulings, 
orders, prehearing conference sum-
maries, stipulations, objections, depo-
sitions, interrogatories, exhibits, docu-
mentary evidence, basis for any sanc-
tions ruling, official transcript of the 
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hearing, briefs, and any other filings or 
submissions made by the parties.

§§ 2423.35–2423.39 [Reserved]

Subpart D—Post-Transmission and 
Exceptions to Authority Proce-
dures

§ 2423.40 Exceptions; oppositions and 
cross-exceptions; oppositions to 
cross-exceptions; waiver. 

(a) Exceptions. Any exceptions to the 
Administrative Law Judge’s decision 
must be filed with the Authority with-
in 25 days after the date of service of 
the Judge’s decision. Exceptions shall 
satisfy the filing and service require-
ments of part 2429 of this subchapter. 
Exceptions shall consist of the fol-
lowing: 

(1) The specific findings, conclusions, 
determinations, rulings, or rec-
ommendations being challenged; the 
grounds relied upon; and the relief 
sought. 

(2) Supporting arguments, which 
shall set forth, in order: all relevant 
facts with specific citations to the 
record; the issues to be addressed; and 
a separate argument for each issue, 
which shall include a discussion of ap-
plicable law. Attachments to briefs 
shall be separately paginated and in-
dexed as necessary. 

(3) Exceptions containing 25 or more 
pages shall include a table of contents 
and a table of legal authorities cited. 

(b) Oppositions and cross-exceptions. 
Unless otherwise directed or approved 
by the Authority, oppositions to excep-
tions, cross-exceptions, and oppositions 
to cross-exceptions may be filed with 
the Authority within 20 days after the 
date of service of the exceptions or 
cross-exceptions, respectively. Opposi-
tions shall state the specific exceptions 
being opposed. Oppositions and cross-
exceptions shall be subject to the same 
requirements as exceptions set out in 
paragraph (a) of this section. 

(c) Reply briefs. Reply briefs shall not 
be filed absent prior permission of the 
Authority. 

(d) Waiver. Any exception not specifi-
cally argued shall be deemed to have 
been waived.

§ 2423.41 Action by the Authority; com-
pliance with Authority decisions 
and orders. 

(a) Authority decision; no exceptions 
filed. In the absence of the filing of ex-
ceptions within the time limits estab-
lished in § 2423.40, the findings, conclu-
sions, and recommendations in the de-
cision of the Administrative Law Judge 
shall, without precedential signifi-
cance, become the findings, conclu-
sions, decision and order of the Author-
ity, and all objections and exceptions 
to the rulings and decision of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge shall be 
deemed waived for all purposes. Failure 
to comply with any filing requirement 
established in § 2423.40 may result in 
the information furnished being dis-
regarded. 

(b) Authority decision; exceptions filed. 
Whenever exceptions are filed in ac-
cordance with § 2423.40, the Authority 
shall issue a decision affirming or re-
versing, in whole or in part, the deci-
sion of the Administrative Law Judge 
or disposing of the matter as is other-
wise deemed appropriate. 

(c) Authority’s order. Upon finding a 
violation, the Authority shall, in ac-
cordance with 5 U.S.C. 7118(a)(7), issue 
an order directing the violator, as ap-
propriate, to cease and desist from any 
unfair labor practice, or to take any 
other action to effectuate the purposes 
of the Federal Service Labor-Manage-
ment Relations Statute. With regard to 
employees covered by 3 U.S.C. 431, upon 
finding a violation, the Authority’s 
order may not include an order of rein-
statement, in accordance with 3 U.S.C. 
431(a). 

(d) Dismissal. Upon finding no viola-
tion, the Authority shall dismiss the 
complaint. 

(e) Report of compliance. After the Au-
thority issues an order, the Respondent 
shall, within the time specified in the 
order, provide to the appropriate Re-
gional Director a report regarding 
what compliance actions have been 
taken. Upon determining that the Re-
spondent has not complied with the 
Authority’s order, the Regional Direc-
tor shall refer the case to the Author-
ity for enforcement or take other ap-
propriate action. 

[62 FR 40916, July 31, 1997, as amended at 63 
FR 46158, Aug. 31, 1998]
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§ 2423.42 Backpay proceedings. 
After the entry of an Authority order 

directing payment of backpay, or the 
entry of a court decree enforcing such 
order, if it appears to the Regional Di-
rector that a controversy exists be-
tween the Authority and a Respondent 
regarding backpay that cannot be re-
solved without a formal proceeding, 
the Regional Director may issue and 
serve on all parties a notice of hearing 
before an Administrative Law Judge to 
determine the backpay amount. The 
notice of hearing shall set forth the 
specific backpay issues to be resolved. 
The Respondent shall, within 20 days 
after the service of a notice of hearing, 
file an answer in accordance with 
§ 2423.20. After the issuance of a notice 
of hearing, the procedures provided in 
subparts B, C, and D of this part shall 
be followed as applicable.

§§ 2423.43–2423.49 [Reserved]

PART 2424—NEGOTIABILITY 
PROCEEDINGS

Subpart A—Applicability of This Part and 
Definitions

Sec.
2424.1 Applicability of this part. 
2424.2 Definitions. 
2424.3–2424.9 [Reserved]

Subpart B—Alternative Dispute Resolution; 
Requesting and Providing Allegations 
Concerning the Duty To Bargain

2424.10 Collaboration and Alternative Dis-
pute Resolution Program. 

2424.11 Requesting and providing written al-
legations concerning the duty to bargain. 

2424.12–2424.19 [Reserved]

Subpart C—Filing and Responding to a 
Petition for Review; Conferences

2424.20 Who may file a petition for review. 
2424.21 Time limits for filing a petition for 

review. 
2424.22 Exclusive representative’s petition 

for review; purpose; content; severance; 
service. 

2424.23 Post-petition conferences; conduct 
and record. 

2424.24 Agency’s statement of position; pur-
pose; time limits; content; severance; 
service. 

2424.25 Response of the exclusive represent-
ative; purpose; time limits; content; sev-
erance; service. 

2424.26 Agency’s reply; purpose; time limits; 
content; service. 

2424.27 Additional submissions to the Au-
thority. 

2424.28–2424.29 [Reserved]

Subpart D—Processing a Petition for 
Review

2424.30 Procedure through which the peti-
tion for review will be resolved. 

2424.31 Resolution of disputed issues of ma-
terial fact; hearings. 

2424.32 Parties’ responsibilities; failure to 
raise, support, and/or respond to argu-
ments; failure to participate in con-
ferences and/or respond to Authority or-
ders. 

2424.33–2424.39 [Reserved]

Subpart E—Decision and Order

2424.40 Authority decision and order. 
2424.41 Compliance. 
2424.42–2424.49 [Reserved]

Subpart F—Criteria for Determining Com-
pelling Need for Agency Rules and 
Regulations

2424.50 Illustrative criteria. 
2424.51–2424.59 [Reserved]

AUTHORITY: 5 U.S.C. 7134.

SOURCE: 63 FR 66413, Dec. 2, 1998, unless 
otherwise noted.

Subpart A—Applicability of This 
Part and Definitions

§ 2424.1 Applicability of this part. 
This part is applicable to all peti-

tions for review filed after April 1, 1999.

§ 2424.2 Definitions. 
In this part, the following definitions 

apply: 
(a) Bargaining obligation dispute 

means a disagreement between an ex-
clusive representative and an agency 
concerning whether, in the specific cir-
cumstances involved in a particular 
case, the parties are obligated to bar-
gain over a proposal that otherwise 
may be negotiable. Examples of bar-
gaining obligation disputes include dis-
agreements between an exclusive rep-
resentative and an agency concerning 
agency claims that: 

(1) A proposal concerns a matter that 
is covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement; and 
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